
Ability fi rst for 30 years

Annual Report  
2020 - 2021



Contents

Welcome from the Chair      04

Welcome from the Chief Executive Officer   05

The Forrest Personnel Way      06

Our Services         07

Our Impact in 2020-21       08

Disability Employment in Western Australia   10

Diverse Workplaces Make Good Business Sense  11

Leschenault Community Nursery: Jacquie & Sharni  12

Narrogin Auto Centre: Steve & Jackson    13

Financial Statements       14

Board Members        50

Executive Team        52

Acknowledgements       55



Iain Massey
Chair

All of us at Forrest Personnel can look back on 
the 2020-21 financial year with justified pride.  
As our Annual Report shows, we continue to 
play an essential role in supporting people with 
disadvantage into the workforce

Across the 16 WA communities in which we have a 
direct presence, over 2,000 people living with injury, 
illness and disability were able to call on us for the 
expertise and support they needed to find, prepare 
for and stay in employment.  The feedback indicates 
that we are serving their needs very well.

The flipside of this, our role in assisting businesses 
to find staff, has become more important than 
ever.  Like many other parts of the world, WA has 
found itself with a sudden and unprecedented 
skills shortage and this year we welcomed over 100 
new employer partners, from small businesses to 
large corporates.  Our free services have provided 
them with access to a local, motivated and diverse 
workforce of exceptional quality.  In many of our 
towns we are the only employment agency, so we 
are proudly living up to our promise to change lives 
and strengthen communities.

However, there is plenty left to do. Across Australia, 
the unemployment rate for people with disability 
remains double the rate for the rest of the 
population.  This is an area we wish to see change 
and we have ambitious plans to help more people in 
coming years.

All of this means a busy Board!  This year we have 
been very pleased to welcome Nadine Carter and 
Dr Gae Synnott as non-executive directors.  Our 
selection process identified several areas where 
we could strengthen our Board’s performance 
by adding particular skills and experience.  I’m 
delighted to say that both Gae and Nadine 
contribute knowledge and insights that materially 
improve our Board work.

We parted company with our CEO, Anna Bagshaw, 
during the year; we wish her every success in the 
next stage of her career.  As we work on recruiting 
a new CEO for the long term, we are fortunate to 
have secured the services of Dr George Giuliani as 
interim CEO.  George has deep experience in our 
sector, particularly in DES, our core program, and 
his assistance has already been of immense value 
to us.

The biggest single thing coming our way by far 
is the NESM – the New Employment Services 
Model.  This is a root-and-branch overhaul of 
Commonwealth employment services, and we 
are determined to be part of it.  If our tender is 
successful, delivering on it will require us to take 
Forrest Personnel to a new level of capability and 
professionalism.  More importantly, it will allow 
us to offer more assistance, to more people, in 
accessing employment.  These are exciting and 
demanding times.

In a year that has brought us some turbulence, and 
an increasing pace of change, I extend my warmest 
thanks to Deputy Chairman Karl Depiazzi, my other 
Board colleagues, to the executive management 
team, and not least to each and every one of our 
staff.  We are an inspiring organisation, and our 
people are the reason.

Iain Massey
Chair
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Thank you to the Forrest Personnel Board and staff 
for the warm and supportive welcome as I journey 
with you and assist with the transition to a new stage 
in the organisation’s development.

Forrest Personnel is at a significant point in its long 
history of assisting people into work. As I take over 
the role of Chief Executive Officer, it’s clear that 
one of the learnings of the past year has been the 
difficulty in forecasting and planning for the future. 
A critical part of this process is being clear about 
mission, values and purpose. As a newcomer to 
the organisation, I find Forrest is well placed with a 
refreshed strategic direction and clarity of purpose – 
to strengthen businesses and communities through 
diverse and inclusive employment. 

The release of the New Employment Services 
Model (NESM) tender, scheduled for submission in 
October and due to commence July 2022, presents 
an opportunity and a challenge for us to further 
our purpose. The opportunity to assist more 
disadvantaged job seekers and employers in their 
local communities is significant. It would allow 
Forrest Personnel to use our expertise to support 
new groups of people who may face challenges in 
accessing employment. 

Refined over 30 years, the ‘Forrest Way’ is our 
particular way of engaging and working with job 
seekers, businesses and support organisations in 
our local towns and communities. It also reflects our 
pride in welcoming everyone who wants our support 
and in continuing to operate in underserviced 
regions most other employment services avoid. The 
‘Forrest Way’ is about leaving behind the ‘us and 
them’ attitude, and – as David Thompson AM would 
often say – acknowledging that ‘they are us’. We 
are looking forward to the opportunity to bring the 
‘Forrest Way’ to mainstream employment services 
and supporting more local people find, prepare for 
and keep employment in local businesses. 

While we are well positioned with staff who are part 
of the local communities in which they work, our 
potential growth brings significant challenges. Most 
importantly will be the need to build on the existing 
competent and committed staff with the necessary 
supports and training to meet the increased 
demand. 

Recruiting staff to the Australian employment 
services sector has been problematic for many 
years, and in WA made worse by the current skills 
shortage. 

However, if we are successful in our bid, the new 
NESM service will sit side by side with our existing 
Disability Employment Services (DES) service but 
will operate differently. The real opportunity is the 
reduced caseload, which will enable experienced 
organisations, integrated in local communities and 
with strong community partnerships, to empower 
their staff to engage job seekers in a person-centred 
shared pathway to employment. This working 
alongside and with job seekers will be a key success 
factor to our future.

There are a range of other future challenges 
including building an expanded site footprint, 
and ensuring technology works in the interest 
of job seekers, but as we get the fundamentals 
in place, I am confident we can fully embrace 
the opportunities, change lives and strengthen 
communities. 

After all, it’s the Forrest way!

Dr George Giuliani
Chief Executive Officer

George Giuliani 
CEO

Welcome from the Chief Executive Officer



Forrest Personnel has supported Western Australian communities with employment services for more than 30 
years. We have offices in 16 WA communities.

We believe the opportunity to engage in meaningful work is a fundamental human right, but it’s a right too few 
people enjoy. 

We believe that meaningful work which harnesses every person’s ability is a powerful catalyst for broader 
change – in the life of an individual, the flourishing of families and the strength of a community. 

We know that being employed can be life changing. Recognising, nurturing, and developing people’s unique 
abilities can profoundly improve physical, mental, and financial wellbeing – as well as connection to community. 

When every person is given the chance to participate, everyone’s world becomes richer and more fulfilling. 
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Our core business in 2020-21 was supporting those with illness, injury or disability to find, get ready for, and 
keep employment. We work with everyone who comes through our doors, whatever their life challenges.  

We are a registered Disability Employment Service (DES), and our person-centred support identifies and 
nurtures people’s existing abilities and empowers job seekers to achieve their ambitions through one of our 
services.  We walk hand-in-hand with those who need our support for however long it takes to find work. 
We change lives.

We understand the people who seek our services, because around half of our staff members also live with 
injury, illness or disability. Many of them used our services before they became our employee.

We partner with small, medium and large employers to understand their needs, and work with them 
to demonstrate how recruiting one of our job seekers builds a local and skilled workforce that delivers 
tangible business benefits. We also ensure eligible employers can access government support and 
subsidies to assist with wages and workplace modifications where required.

The Forrest Personnel Way: changing lives, building businesses, and 
strengthening communities.

Our Services

Employer networks, industry  
and government programs

Community support 
organisations

Training and skills partners

Training, skills 
and education

Jobs, work 
experience, 
volunteering 
opportunities

Personalised 
support and 
empowerment

Diverse participants living 
with disability, injury or illness

Disability Employment Services (DES)

•  DES providers help people with health  
 conditions, injuries and disabilities to find  
 and keep jobs.

•  To participate in the DES program, people  
 undertake a work capacity assessment to  
 determine their health needs in relation to  
 work.

•  We work with a network of employers  
 and community organisations to find job  
 openings, and prepare suitable job seekers  
 through application preparation, training  
 or  personal support.

Psychosocial Support Programme (formerly 
Partners in Recovery)

•  Psychosocial support services to assist  
 people with severe mental illness.

•  Support is available to build skills to  
 manage mental illnesses, improve  
 relationships with family and others, and  
 increase social and economic participation.

Jobs R Us labour hire and trolley 
collection service

•  We provide flexibility to employers by  
 providing labour hire solutions. This   
 has been popular in the resources and   
 construction industries in particular.   
 We have developed strong relationships  
 with South32 and Iluka, Water  
 Corporation, St Vincent De Paul, and  
 Southern Ports Authority.

•  We provide trolley collection services to  
 Woolworths in Albany, Esperance and  
 Kalgoorlie, creating employment for  
 many of our job seekers.

National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS)

•  Taking a lifetime approach, people can  
 access funding through their NDIS plans to  
 help them live and work in the community,  
 so they can achieve their life goals.



Nearly half of our participants live with physical illness, injury or disability and about one third live with a mental 
health issue. Three quarters of our participants are referred to us through Centrelink, and they represent a 
broad cross section of our communities with a range of reasons for needing our support.

We support around two thirds of our participants with employment assistance – from preparing their resume 
and practicing interview techniques, through to developing their communication skills and sourcing necessary 
training. Most of our participants work part-time and around one third receive ongoing support once employed. 
Many of our job seekers have been unemployed for longer than the Australian average, which demonstrates 
Forrest Personnel’s important role in supporting participants with complex backgrounds and high employment 
needs.
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Our Impact in 2020-21

Participants by Age Group

Participant Background

Gender Breakdown

Ex Offender 
9.7%

Refugees 
0.4%

Indigenous 
7.9%

Homeless 
5.1%

CALD 
4.0%

Male
54.2%

Female 
45.8%

 

Under 21

4.9%

21 - 24

8.9%8.9%

25 - 34 35 - 44 45 - 49 50 - 54 55 - 64

29.8%29.8%

65 & over

3.7%3.7%

13.1%13.1%

10.4%

15.2%
14%14%
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Explainer: Benchmark hours

Every participant is assessed by Centrelink (Services Australia) 
for their ability and the number of hours per week that they  
have capacity to work. Employment Benchmarks are either  
0, 8, 15, 23 or 30 hours per week. 

177 Different employers recruited 
Forrest Personnel staff

104 New employer 
relationships

+47
Net Promoter Score (NPS) 
score from our participants, 
up 4 points from previous year

32 NDIS participants 
helped

2,271 DES participants 
supported

241 New placements 
through DES

18 New placements through 
our labour hire business

22% Growth in Indigenous 
participants

Employment Roles %
Health Care and Social Assistance 17
Accommodation and Food Services 16
Retail Trade 11
Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing 7
Construction 5
Administrative and Support Services 5
Mining 3
Wholesale Trade 3
Education and Training 2
Professional, Scientific and  
Technical Services 2

Electricity, Gas, Water and  
Waste Services 2

Transport, Postal and Warehousing 2
Public Administration and Safety 1
Manufacturing 1
Information Media and  
Telecommunications 1

Arts and Recreation Services 1
Other Services 23

Benchmark HoursIndustry Breakdown
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Forrest Personnel made a significant impact in 2020-21; however, more remains to be done to ensure no ability 
is wasted.
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Diversity in the workplace opens minds to new ways of thinking. Stereotypes are dismissed, myths are 
busted and our preconceptions of what is or isn’t possible are challenged.

Forrest Personnel’s free recruitment services support employers to grow by building diverse and inclusive 
workplaces.

Diverse Workplaces Make Good Business Sense

Employees with an injury, illness or 
disability can help grow your business

 LONG-TERM

1800 224 548
fp.org.au

oductivity
eased team productivity

and act as a catalyst for increased team pr
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RELIABLEfewer absentee days
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MARKET INSIGHT

Recruiting through disability employment 
services is FREE for employers
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People with a disability are more likely to work part-time  
than people without a disability.

People with a disability People without a disability

This is roughly 1 in 6 people.

FULL-TIME VS PART-TIMEIN WA THERE ARE  
411,500 PEOPLE LIVING 
WITH A DISABILITY

39.5% 
part time 60.5% 

full time

32.1% 
part time 68.8% 

full time

Of those people with a disability who are working part time, 
1 in 10 consider themselves under-employed i.e. they are 
able and available to work more hours.  For those aged 
between 15 and 24 years, 1 in 4 is underemployed.

UNDEREMPLOYMENT IN WA

Within those in the labour force, people 
with a disability are twice as likely to be 
unemployed as those without a disability

5.3% 11.1%

UNEMPLOYMENT IN WA



When asked about her newest recruits, Jacquie 
Rusha, Manager of the Leschenault Community 
Nursery, can’t say enough.

“We have a group of people who are enthusiastic 
and happy to be in a workplace – they are all really 
engaged. It has worked out so well,” she says.

The group she is referring to is five Forrest Personnel 
clients who were employed part-time by the nursery 
earlier this year using State government funding 
made available under the Green Jobs Plan. While the 
costings and grant application process did take some 
work, Jacquie says it has more than paid off.
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Choosing the right person for the right job is 
paramount to Stephen Webb, General Manager 
of Narrogin Auto Centre.

He wants his salespeople to be personable, 
knowledgeable and enthusiastic. Jackson 
Andrew ticks every box.

After registering with disability employment 
agency Forrest Personnel, Jackson was matched 
to a role at the local Ford, Nissan and Mitsubishi 
dealership.

Jackson and Narrogin Auto Centre

“Our team is a mix of a small group paid staff and volunteers, which means we really require people who are 
switched on and who can just jump in and do whatever needs doing at the time,” she says.

“The group from Forrest Personnel have been really capable – they have added so much value to the business.”

On the whole, she notes, the group has not needed much additional support. 

“Once we identified what their skills were and then put them where they could use those skills, their disability 
was not a concern,” she says.

One group member in particular has proven invaluable to the business. Sharni Tehemara initially started work 
in the cuttings shed but according to Jacquie she proved so adept in this area it wasn’t long before she was 
training others. 

“After that we moved her into the retail section and once again she really came along. She meets our 
expectations, she follows through on everything - she really has all the attributes you look for as an employer,” 
Jacquie says. “We definitely would like to keep her.”

For Sharni the work has been life changing.

“I’ve always struggled with communication and I get anxiety. Even just going into a new place and handing in a 
resume was hard.  I was unemployed for about a year,” she says.

“When Forrest Personnel mentioned the job to me, I jumped on it. I have always been interested in working 
outside, so this was a great match.

“This job has been good for me all round – it’s helped me with my confidence, and I’ve moved out of home so I 
have more independence now. 

“This job is giving me a purpose – I feel like I am contributing, and it’s a good feeling.”

An Easy Decision

“I had him in for an interview and I made my decision pretty quickly,” recalls Stephen (pictured right). 
“Jackson was really well matched to this job.”

“For me it was about choosing the right person for the right job – his disability didn’t come into it.”

Jackson spent nearly a decade training to be a heavy-duty diesel mechanic and working on agricultural 
machinery and cars. But he also has a blood vessel malformation in his right hand – and the pain this 
causes him eventually forced him to quit the field he was so passionate about.

“I had always wanted to be a mechanic – but my hand became so painful that I could only do a couple of 
days a week. I had to quit,” he says. “I didn’t work for nearly a whole year.”

So when Forrest Personnel called him about the job opening at Narrogin Auto Centre, he told them to 
“jump on it”.

“I think I slotted into the sales role pretty well,” he says. “My disability doesn’t stop me from doing my 
job. I think there are lots of people like that – I think employers could get great candidates, possibly even 
better candidates if they consider people with a disability. I think there are other people out there who 
may have two perfectly good hands, but they might not be as dedicated as me.”

The Right Hire

“Jackson has the desire to work, he is happy to learn, to help and to share his existing knowledge on 
cars. His disability does not affect the way he does his job at all,” Stephen says.

“When you are considering a person with a disability you really need to think whether it will actually 
affect the work. When you have the right person in the right role, then it doesn’t make a difference if they 
have a blood flow problem in one of their hands.

“We did also receive an incentive payment from the government for hiring Jackson, but to be honest that 
never factored into my thinking. All I know is that – based on his sales performance and work ethic – he 
is worth more than ten times that payment to our company. He is an asset to our team.

“We will keep him.”
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Forrest Personnel Ltd 
ABN 16 407 737 173 
Financial report for the year ended 30 June 2021 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
The directors present this report on the company for the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 

Directors 
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are: 

 Iain Massey (Chairman) 

 Karl Depiazzi (Deputy Chairperson) 

 Lynette Harding  

 David Timmel  

 Nadine Carter (appointed 3 February 2021) 

 Gae Synnott (appointed 13 March 2021) 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise 
stated. 

Principal Activities 
Forrest Personnel Ltd is a purpose driven, not for profit, community based organisation that supports 
people with health conditions, injuries or disabilities to find and maintain employment. 

Strategic Pillars  
The company’s strategic pillars are: 

– Strong sustainable core business;   

– Diverse and scalable revenue streams; 

– Technology enabled; and  

– An engaged and high-performing culture. 

Success Measures  
The company measures its own performance through the use of both quantitative and qualitative 
benchmarks. The benchmarks are used by the directors to assess the financial sustainability of the 
company and whether the company’s objectives are being achieved. 

Our key success measures are:  

– Financial viability and growth; 

– Above 3 star rating for DES performance; 

– Revenue diversification; and 

– Employment engagement and performance ratings.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
Information on Directors 
Iain Massey  – Chairperson 

Qualifications – 
– 

Graduate Diploma of Management – UWA 
Graduate Diploma of Computer Science - Curtin 

Experience – 
– 
– 

Member of Australian Institute of Company Directors 
Associate Fellow of Australian Institute of Management 
15+ years’ experience working with medium and large 
companies to improve their processes, governance, risk 
management, strategy and succession planning. 

   

Karl Depiazzi – Deputy Chairperson 

Qualifications – 
 
– 

Double Major in Accounting and Public Practice from Edith 
Cowan University 
Certified Practicing Accountant 

Experience – 20+ years in executive management experience in both not for 
profit and large corporate environments. 

   

Lynette Harding  – Director  

Qualifications – Fellow, Australian Institute of Company Directors 

 – Fellow, Certified Practicing Accountant  

 – WA Chair, The Executive Connection  

 
Experience 

– Bachelor of Business (Accounting), Edith Cowan University  
20+ years’ experience in health care sector and has a portfolio 
career made up of non-executive directorships, own 
consultancy and coaching business, advisory board member, 
Chair of a major Private Ancillary Fund, voluntary work and 
advocacy. Experience in: public accounting, ASX100, not for 
profit and SME organisations. 

   

David Timmel – Director  

Qualifications  – Graduate of the Advanced Management Program at Harvard 
University  

Experience  – 35+ years experience in Financial Services, Agribusiness, 
Recruitment, Property Management and Conservation sectors. 

   

Nadine Carter  - Director  

Qualifications  - Bachelor of Business in Human Resource Management and 
Industrial Relations. 

 - Graduate Diploma in Management. 

 - Fellow and Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors (AICD). 

Experience  - 

   

20+ years of corporate experience and independent 
consultancy bringing a proven track record in corporate 
governance, strategic development, stakeholder engagement, 
risk management, strategic human resource management, 
organisational development, cultural change, and executive 
leadership development.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 Note 2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Revenue 2 9,729,361 9,804,849 

Other income 2 898,368 840,206 

Employee benefits expense  (6,394,099) (6,144,900) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8,9 (277,833) (382,730) 

Motor vehicle expenses  (247,290) (194,888) 

Occupancy expenses   (321,886) (348,648) 

Administration expenses   (1,153,378) (919,393) 

Other expenses   (180,863) (173,802) 

  2,052,380 2,480,694 

Loss on revaluation of land 9 - - 

Loss on revaluation of buildings  9 - - 

  - - 

Net result for the year  2,052,380 2,480,694 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    

Changes in asset revaluation reserve  9 - - 

Total other comprehensive income for the year  - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  2,052,380 2,480,694 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2021 

 Note 2021 2020 
   $ 
ASSETS    

CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash on hand 4 3,583,424 2,599,137 

Financial assets  5 5,114,681 2,978,178 

Accounts receivable and other debtors 6 618,732 611,823 

Other current assets 7 198,517 522,738 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   9,551,354 6,711,876 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Right-of-use assets  8 244,963 129,659 

Property, plant and equipment 9 2,770,146 3,659,642 

Intangibles 10 - - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   3,015,109 3,789,301 

TOTAL ASSETS  12,530,463 10,501,177 

LIABILITIES    

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Lease liability  8 132,241 78,455 

Accounts payable and other payables 11 952,426 1,123,546 

Employee provisions 12 446,820 389,329 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   1,531,487 1,591,330 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Lease liability  8 117,219 45,960 

Employee provisions  12 59,854 94,364 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   177,073 140,324 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   1,708,560 1,731,654 

NET ASSETS  10,821,903 8,769,523 

EQUITY    

Retained surplus  10,821,903 8,769,523 

TOTAL EQUITY  10,821,903 8,769,523 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
Note 

Retained 
Surplus 

Revaluation 
Surplus Total 

  $ $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2019 

 
 

6,288,830 - 6,288,830

Comprehensive income   

Surplus for the year attributable to members 
of the company  2,480,694 - 2,480,694

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - -

Total comprehensive income attributable 
to members of the company  

2,480,694 - 2,480,694

Balance at 30 June 2020  8,769,523 - 8,769,523

 
Balance at 1 July 2020  

8,769,523 - 8,769,523

Comprehensive income   

Surplus for the year attributable to members 
of the company  

2,052,380 - 2,052,380

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - -

Total comprehensive income attributable 
to members of the company  

2,052,380 - 2,040,660

Balance at 30 June 2021  10,821,903 - 10,821,903

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 Note 2021 2020 
   $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from funding bodies and customers   10,564,902 10,029,273 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (8,148,079) (7,716,697) 

Interest received  34,798 45,838 

Net cash generated from operating activities 15 2,451,621 2,358,414 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  848,091 1,349,878 

Payment for property, plant and equipment 9 (84,582) (1,594,277) 

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities  763,509 (244,399) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Transfers to financial assets   (2,136,503) (2,978,178) 

Lease payments AASB 16  (94,340) (82,370) 

Net cash used in financing activities   (2,230,843) (3,060,548) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  984,287 (946,533) 

Cash on hand at beginning of the financial year  2,599,137 3,545,670 

Cash on hand at end of the financial year 4 3,583,424 2,599,137 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

The financial statements cover Forrest Personnel Ltd as an individual company, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia. Forrest Personnel Ltd is a company limited by guarantee. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on       October 2021 by the directors of the company. 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Basis of Preparation  
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.  The company is a not-for-
profit company for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.  Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have 
been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis 
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected 
non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial 
statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 

Accounting Policies 
a. Revenue 
 Operating Grants, Donations and Bequests 

 When the company receives operating grant revenue, donations or bequests, it assesses whether 
the contract is enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance to 
AASB 15, 

 When both these conditions are satisfied, the company: 
- identifies each performance obligation relating to the grant  
- recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the agreement 
- recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations. 
Where the contract is not enforceable or does not have sufficiently specific performance 
obligations, the company: 
- recognises the asset received in accordance with the recognition requirements of other 
applicable accounting standards (eg AASB 9, AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138) 
- recognises related amounts (being lease liability, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or 
contract liability arising from a contract with a customer) 
- recognises income immediately in profit or loss as the difference between the initial carrying 
amount of the asset and the related amount. 
If a contract liability is recognised as a related amount above, the company recognises income in 
profit or loss when or as it satisfies its obligations under the contract. 

 
b. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 

The company measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-
recurring basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.  

 Fair value is the price the company would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer 
a liability in an orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing 
market participants at the measurement date.  

 As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing 
information is used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having 
regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities 
that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. 
These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

b. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities (Cont.) 
 To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the 

asset or liability (ie the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or 
liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the most advantageous market available to the 
company at the end of the reporting period (ie the market that maximises the receipts from the 
sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account 
transaction costs and transport costs). 

 For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.  

 The fair value of liabilities and the company’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to 
share-based payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in 
relation to the transfer of such financial instruments, by reference to observable market information 
where such instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation 
techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial 
statements. 

c. Property, Plant and Equipment  
 Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated, less, 

where applicable, accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.  

 Freehold property 
 Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value based on periodic valuations by external 

independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.  

 In periods when the freehold land and buildings are not subject to an independent valuation, the 
directors conduct directors’ valuations to ensure the carrying amount for the land and buildings is 
not materially different to the fair value. 

 Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the revaluation surplus in equity. Revaluation 
decreases that offset previous increases of the same class of assets shall be recognised in other 
comprehensive income under the heading of revaluation surplus. All other decreases are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

 Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 

 Plant and equipment 
 Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying 
amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses 
are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate 
to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment 
indicators are present (refer to Note 1(f) for details of impairment). 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and 
maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss in the financial period in which they are 
incurred.   

 Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost or for nominal cost are recognised at 
the fair value of the asset at the date it is acquired. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
c. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont.) 
 Depreciation 
 The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, including buildings and capitalised lease assets, but 

excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the 
company commencing from the time the asset is available for use. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
lives of the improvements. 

 The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:  

 Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 
 Buildings 2.5% 

 Plant and equipment 20 – 40% 

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.  

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. When 
revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are 
transferred to retained surplus. 

d. Leases 
 The Company as lessee 

 At inception of a contract, the company assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a 
lease present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the 
company where the company is the lessee. However, all contracts that are classified as short-term 
leases (lease with remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are 
recognised as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

 Initially, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at 
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
If this rate cannot be readily determined, the company uses the incremental borrowing rate. 

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows: 

 – fixed lease payments less any lease incentives; 

 – variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate at the commencement date; 

 – the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

 – the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 
options; 

 – lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 
options; and  

 – payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 
option to terminate the lease 

 The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as 
mentioned above, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date as well as any 
initial direct costs. The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
e. Financial Instruments 
 Initial recognition and measurement 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the company 
commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 

 Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs except where the instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in 
which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted 
prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation 
techniques are adopted. 

 Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not 
contain a significant financing component or if the practical expedient has been applied as 
specified in AASB 15.63. 

 Classification and subsequent measurement 
 Financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at: 

 – amortised cost; or 

 – fair value through profit and loss. 

 A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is: 

 – a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3 
applies; 

 – held for trading; or 

 – Initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant 
period. 

 The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the 
instrument to the net carrying amount at initial recognition. 

 A financial liability is held for trading if it is: 

 – incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term; 

 – part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or 

 Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent 
that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. 

 The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is 
taken to other comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. 
Instead, it is transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. 

 If taking the change in credit risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an 
accounting mismatch, then these gains or losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other 
comprehensive income. 

 A financial liability cannot be reclassified. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

e. Financial Instruments (Cont.) 
 Financial asset 

 Financial assets are subsequently measured at: 

 – amortised cost; 

 – fair value through other comprehensive income; or 

 – fair value through profit and loss 

 on the basis of the two primary criteria, being: 

 – the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and 

 – the business model for managing the financial assets. 

 A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost when it meets the following 
conditions: 

 – the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and 

 – the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates. 

 A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
when it meets the following conditions: 

 – the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates; 
and 

 – the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cash flows 
collection and the selling of the financial asset. 

 By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the conditions of amortised cost and the fair 
value through other comprehensive income's measurement condition are subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit and loss. 

 The company initially designates financial instruments as measured at fair value through profit or 
loss if: 

 – it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often 
referred to as “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or 
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; 

 – it is in accordance to the documented risk management or investment strategy and 
information about the groupings was documented appropriately, so the performance of the 
financial liability that was part of an company of financial liabilities or financial assets can 
be managed and evaluated consistently on a fair value basis; and 

 – it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the 
cash flows otherwise required by the contract. 

 The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit and loss 
is a one-time option on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is 
derecognised. 

 Equity instruments 

 At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for trading or is not a contingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3 applies, the 
company made an irrevocable election to measure the equity instruments in other comprehensive 
income, while the dividend revenue received on underlying equity instruments investment will still 
be recognised in profit and loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
e. Financial Instruments (Cont.) 
 Derecognition 

 Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability 
from the statement of financial position. 

 Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with 
substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability, is 
treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability. 

 The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, 
is recognised in profit or loss. 

 Derecognition of financial assets 

 A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or 
the asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially 
transferred. 

 All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of a financial asset: 

 – the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred; 

 – all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and 

 – the company no longer controls the asset (ie it has no practical ability to make unilateral 
decisions to sell the asset to a third party). 

 On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 
asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

 On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive 
income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve 
is reclassified to profit or loss. 

 On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value 
through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained 
earnings. 

 Impairment 
 The company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on: 

 – financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income; 

 – lease receivables; 

 – contract assets (eg amount due from customers under construction contracts); 

 – loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 

 – financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Loss allowance is not recognised for: 

 – financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or 

 – equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life 
of a financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 
due and all cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate 
of the financial instrument. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

e. Financial Instruments (Cont.)  
 The company used the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: 

 – the general approach; 

 – the simplified approach; 

 – the purchased or originated credit impaired approach; and 

 – low credit risk operational simplification. 

 General approach 

 Under the general approach, at each reporting period, the company assessed whether the 
financial instruments are credit impaired, and if: 

 – the credit risk of the financial instrument increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
company measured the loss allowance of the financial instruments at an amount equal to 
the lifetime expected credit losses; and 

 – there was no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the company 
measured the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month 
expected credit losses. 

 Simplified approach 

 The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk in every reporting 
period, but instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. 

 This approach is applicable to: 

 – trade receivables; and 

 – lease receivables. 

 In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables was used taking 
into consideration various data to get to an expected credit loss (ie diversity of its customer base, 
appropriate groupings of its historical loss experience, etc). 

 Purchased or originated credit-impaired approach 

 For a financial asset that is considered to be credit impaired (not on acquisition or originations), 
the company measured any change in its lifetime expected credit loss as the difference between 
the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Any adjustment was recognised in profit or 
loss as an impairment gain or loss. 

 Evidence of credit impairment includes: 

 – significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower; 

 – a breach of contract (eg default or past due event); 

 – Where a lender has granted to the borrower a concession, due to the borrower's financial 
difficulty, that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

 – It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and 

 – the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset because of financial 
difficulties. 

 Low credit risk operational simplification approach 

 If a financial asset is determined to have low credit risk at the initial reporting date, the company 
assumed that the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition and accordingly 
can continue to recognise a loss allowance of 12-month expected credit loss. 

 In order to make such determination that the financial asset has low credit risk, the company 
applied its internal credit risk ratings or other methodologies using a globally comparable definition 
of low credit risk. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
e.         Financial Instruments (Cont.) 
 A financial asset is considered to have low credit risk if: 

 – there is a low risk of default by the borrower; 

 – the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near 
term; and 

 – adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term, may, but not 
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 

 A financial asset is not considered to carry low credit risk merely due to existence of collateral, or 
because a borrower has a lower risk of default than the risk inherent in the financial assets, or 
relative to the credit risk of the jurisdiction in which it operates. 

 Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements 

 At each reporting date, the company completes a credit loss assessment and recognises the 
movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. 

 The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance 
relating to that asset. 

 Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. An amount in relation to 
change in credit risk is transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every 
reporting period. 

 For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial 
guarantees), a provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to 
recognise the loss allowance. 

f. Impairment of Assets 
 At the end of each reporting period, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 

intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been 
impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying 
amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised in 
profit or loss.  

 Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s 
ability to generate net cash inflows and when the company would, if deprived of the asset, replace 
its remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement 
cost of an asset.  

 Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset, the company estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is recognised against the 
revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss 
does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that class of asset. 

g. Employee Provisions 
 Short-term employee provisions 

 Provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term 
employee benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled 
wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits 
are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
g. Employee Provisions (Cont.) 
 Other long-term employee provisions 

 Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected 
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the 
present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future 
payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and 
employee departures, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the 
terms of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long-term employee 
benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss as part of employee 
benefits expense.  

 The company’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current 
employee provisions in its statement of financial position, except where the company does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.  

h. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-

term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

i. Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors 
 Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from customers.  Receivables 

expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as 
current assets.  All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

 Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1(f) for 
further discussion on the determination of impairment losses. 

j. Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 

amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

 Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

 Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities, which are recoverable from or payable to the ATO, are presented 
as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 

k. Income Tax 
 No provision for income tax has been raised as the company is exempt from income tax under 

Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

l. Intangibles 
 Rebranding and website development  
 Rebranding and website development are recorded at cost, subsequently amortised over 

expected useful life and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.  

m. Provisions 
 Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of 

past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow 
can be reliably measured. Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts 
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
n. Comparative Figures 
 Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform 

with changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

o. Accounts Payable and Other Payables 

 Accounts payable and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period for goods and services received by the company during the reporting period which remain 
unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 
days of recognition of the liability. 

p. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements  
 The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based 

on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the company. 

 Key estimates 
 (i) Impairment 

  The freehold land and buildings were independently valued in February 2019. The valuation 
was based on fair value. The critical assumptions adopted in determining the valuation 
included the location of the land and buildings in the area and recent sales data for similar 
properties.  

  At 30 June 2021, the directors reviewed the key assumptions made by the valuers in 
February 2019. They have concluded that these assumptions remain materially unchanged, 
and are satisfied that carrying amount does not exceed the recoverable amount of land and 
buildings at 30 June 2021. 

 Key judgements 
 (i) Performance obligations under AASB 15 

  To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently 
specific to be able to determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises 
judgement to determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account 
any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised 
goods or services. In making this assessment, management includes the nature/ type, cost/ 
value, quantity and the period of transfer related to the goods or services promised. 

 (ii) Lease term and Option to Extend under AASB 16 

  The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with both 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to 
exercise that option; and also periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the 
lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. The options that are reasonably 
going to be exercised is a key management judgement that the company will make. The 
company determines the likeliness to exercise the options on a lease-by-lease basis looking 
at various factors such as which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of 
the company. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

 iii) Employee benefits 

  For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits defines obligations for 
short-term employee benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months 
after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related 
services. The company expects most employees will take their annual leave entitlements 
within 24 months of the reporting period in which they were earned, but this will not have a 
material impact on the amounts recognised in respect of obligations for employees’ leave 
entitlements. 

q. Economic Dependence 
 Forrest Personnel Ltd is dependent on the Department of Social Services for the majority of its 

revenue used to operate the business. At the date of this report, the Board of Directors has no 
reason to believe the Department will not continue to support Forrest Personnel Ltd. Funding with 
the Department of Social Services has been secured until 30 June 2023. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME     
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Revenue    

Operating revenue   9,694,563 9,759,011 

  9,694,563 9,759,011 

Other revenue:    

– interest received on investments   34,798 45,838 

   34,798 45,838 

Total revenue  9,729,361 9,804,849 

    

Other income    

– gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  47,765 55,310 

– rental income   92,278 97,454 

– government payments COVID-19  741,600 670,900 

– other   16,725 16,542 

Total other income  898,368 840,206 

Total revenue and other income  10,627,729 10,645,055 

 
NOTE 3: AUDITOR REMUNERATION 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
 Audit fees:    

 – audit services  18,900 18,700 

 
NOTE 4: CASH ON HAND  

   

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
CURRENT    

Cash at bank – unrestricted  3,578,115 2,594,228 

Petty Cash and float   5,309 4,909 

Total cash on hand as stated in the statement of financial position 
and statement of cash flows 

16 3,583,424 2,599,137 

 
NOTE 5: FINANCIAL ASSETS  

   

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
CURRENT    

Financial assets at amortised cost   5,114,681 2,978,178 

Total financial assets  16 5,114,681 2,978,178 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

NOTE 6: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER DEBTORS 
 Note 2021 2020 
  $ $ 
CURRENT    

Accounts receivable  618,732 611,823 

Total current accounts receivable and other debtors 16 618,732 611,823 

 

a. Credit Risk 
 The main source of credit risk to the company is considered to relate to the class of assets 

described as “accounts receivable and other debtors”. 

 The following table details the company’s accounts receivable and other debtors exposed to credit 
risk (prior to collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment 
provided for thereon.  Amounts are considered as “past due” when the debt has not been settled 
within the terms and conditions agreed between the company and the customer or counterparty to 
the transaction. Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining 
solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that 
the debt may not be fully repaid to the company. 

 The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are 
considered to be of high credit quality. 

  
Gross 

Amount 

Past Due 
and 

Impaired 

Past Due but Not Impaired 
(Days Overdue) 

Within 
Initial 
Trade 
Terms   < 30 31–60 61–90 > 90 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 2021        

 Accounts 
receivable 

618,732 - 565,287 19,855 20,861 12,729 618,732 

 Total 618,732 - 565,287 19,855 20,861 12,729 618,732 

         

 2020        

 Accounts 
receivable 

611,823 - 553,316 8,645 4,459 45,403 611,823 

 Total 611,823 - 553,316 8,645 4,459 45,403 611,823 

The company has completed a credit loss assessment and has deemed the loss carrying provision to be 
immaterial.  
 
NOTE 7: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Accrued income  44,937 362,775 

Prepayments   119,225 102,806 

Other current assets   34,355 57,157 

  198,517 522,738 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 8: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASES 
The company’s lease portfolio includes buildings. These leases have an average of 3 years as their lease 
term. 
1. Options to extend or terminate 
The option to extend or terminate are contained in several of the property leases of the company. These 
clauses provide the company opportunities to manage leases in order to align with its strategies. All of 
the extension or termination options are only exercisable by the company. The extension options or 
termination options which were probable to be exercised have been included in the calculation of the 
right of use asset 

i) Right-of-Use Assets 

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 
Leased Building 331,834 206,792 

Accumulated depreciation (86,871) (77,127) 

   

 244,963 129,659 

   

Movement in carrying amounts:   

Leased Buildings:   

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  129,659 - 

Additions to Right-of-Use Assets  219,385 - 

Recognised on initial application of AASB 16 (previously 
classified as operating leases under AASB 117) - 206,792 

Depreciation expense (104,081) (77,127) 

Net carrying amount 244,963 129,659 

   

ii) Lease Liabilities  
Commitments – AASB 16 Lease Liabilities (discounted)   

Current lease liabilities    

- Not later than one year  132,241 78,455 

 132,241 78,455 

   

Non-current lease liabilities    

- Later than one year but not more than five years  117,219 45,960 

- Later than five years  - - 

 117,219 45,960 

iii) AASB 16 related amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 
Depreciation charge related to right-of-use assets 104,081 77,127 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 7,752 7,737 

Short-term leases expense 163,019 178,308 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT     
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Land and Buildings    

Land at fair value  975,000 975,000 

Total land  975,000 975,000 

Buildings at fair value  1,717,899 1,717,899 

Accumulated depreciation  (94,970) (51,129) 

Total buildings  1,622,929 1,666,770 

Total land and buildings  2,597,929 2,641,770 

Plant and Equipment     

Plant and Equipment at cost   785,759 1,747,215 

Accumulated depreciation  (613,542) (729,343) 

Total plant and equipment   172,217 1,017,872 

Total property, plant and equipment  2,770,146 3,659,642 

 

Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning 
and the end of the current financial year: 
 Land and 

Buildings  
Plant and 

Equipment  
Total  

 $ $ $ 
2020    

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,682,229 983,307 3,665,536 

Additions at cost 2,899 1,591,378 1,594,277 

Disposals/write offs  - (1,294,568) (1,294,568) 

Revaluations - - - 

Depreciation expense  (43,358) (262,245) (305,603) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 2,641,770 1,017,872 3,659,642 

2021    

Balance at the beginning of the year  2,641,770 1,017,872 3,659,642 

Additions at cost  - 84,582 84,582 

Disposals/write offs  - (800,326) (800,326) 

Revaluations - - - 

Depreciation expense (43,841) (129,911) (173,752) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 2,597,929 172,217 2,770,146 

 

Asset Revaluations 
The freehold land and buildings were independently valued in February 2019. The valuation resulted in a 
revaluation decrement of $484,437 on buildings and a revaluation decrement of $80,000 on land for the 
year ended 30 June 2019.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont.)    
Asset Revaluations (cont.) 
At 30 June 2021 the directors reviewed the key assumptions made by the valuers in February 2019. They 
have concluded that these assumptions remain materially unchanged, and are satisfied that the carrying 
amount does not exceed the recoverable amount of land and buildings at 30 June 2021. 

Refer to Note 17 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s freehold 
land and buildings. 

Land Covenant 
One land title of the company (Volume 1411, Folio 291) has a registered mortgage to National Australia 
Bank and a caveat by the Lotteries Commission.  
 
NOTE 10: INTANGIBLES 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Rebranding Costs   16,900 16,900 

Accumulated amortisation  (16,900) (16,900) 

Website development costs   19,976 19,976 

Accumulated amortisation  (19,976) (19,976) 

Net carrying amount  - - 

 
NOTE 11: ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 Note 2021 2020 
CURRENT  $ $ 
Accounts payable  132,488 84,508 

Contract liability - service fees in advance   360,256 600,611 

Contract liability – relating to contacts  11,798 85,438 

Other current payables  389,985 271,644 

GST liability  57,899 81,345 

 11a 952,426 1,123,546 

a. Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as 
accounts payable and other payables  

   

 Accounts payable and other payables:    

 – total current  11 952,426 1,123,546 

 – total non-current  - - 

    952,426 1,123,546 

 Less GST liability  (57,889) (81,345) 

 Less contract liabilities  (401,783) (357,082) 

 Financial liabilities as accounts payable and other payables 16 492,754 685,119 

 The average credit period on accounts payable and other payables (excluding GST payable) is 1 
month.  No interest is payable on outstanding payables during this period.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
 
NOTE 12: EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS  

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 

Opening balance  483,693 441,655 

Additional provisions raised during the year 393,012 505,591 

Amounts used (370,031) (463,553) 

Closing Balance  506,674 483,693 

   

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 
Analysis of employee provisions   

Current:   

– annual leave and time off in lieu entitlements 261,191 230,610 

– long service leave entitlements 185,629 158,719 

Total current employee provisions  446,820 389,329 

Non-current:   

– long service leave entitlements 59,584 94,364 

 59,584 94,364 

 

Employee provisions  
Employee provisions represent amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave. 

The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and 
the amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having 
completed the required period of service. Based on past experience, the company does not expect the full 
amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within 
the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the company 
does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish 
to use their leave entitlement. 

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that 
have not yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of 
service. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

    
NOTE 13: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period. 
 
NOTE 14: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

   2021 2020 

   $ $ 

a. Key Management Personnel    

 Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the company, directly 
or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or 
otherwise) is considered key management personnel. 

   

 Key management personnel compensation:    

 – short-term benefits  741,599 568,316 

 – other-long term benefits  66,793 64,425 

 – post-employment benefits   77,264 53,499 

    885,656 686,240 

      

b. Remuneration of Directors     
 Sitting fees paid/accrued to the Directors of the company totalled $21,443 for the period from 1 

July 2020 to 30 June 2021 (2019; $36,489).  
 
NOTE 15: CASH FLOW INFORMATION  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with Net 
Current Year Surplus 

   

Net current year surplus  2,052,380 2,480,694 

Non-cash flows:    

Depreciation and amortisation expense  277,833 382,730 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (47,765) (55,310) 

Changes in assets and liabilities:    

Increase in accounts receivable and other current assets  (526) (510,472) 

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and other payables  146,718 18,735 

Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions  22,981 42,037 

   2,451,621 2,358,414 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
NOTE 16: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, receivables and payables, and 
trade payables.  

The carrying amounts for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: 
Financial Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

 Note 2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Financial assets at amortised cost     

Cash on hand 4 3,583,424 2,599,137 

Financial assets  5 5,114,681 2,978,178 

Accounts receivable and other debtors 6 618,732 611,823 

Total financial assets  9,316,837 6,189,138 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost     
– accounts payable and other payables 11a 492,754 685,119 

– lease liability   249,460 124,415 

Total financial liabilities  742,214 809,534 

 
Financial Risk Management Policies 
The finance committee is responsible for monitoring and managing the company’s compliance with its risk 
management strategy and consists of senior board members. The finance committee’s overall risk 
management strategy is to assist the company in meeting its financial targets while minimising potential 
adverse effects on financial performance. Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the 
finance committee on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 
Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management 
The main risks the company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk relating to interest rate risk and other price risk. 

There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the company is exposed to, how these risks 
arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the 
previous period. 

a. Credit risk 

 Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss for the company. 

 The company does not have any material credit risk exposures as its major source of revenue is 
the receipt of funding.  

 Credit risk exposures 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the 
reporting period is equivalent to the carrying value and classification of those financial assets (net 
of any provisions) as presented in the statement of financial position. 

 Accounts receivable and other debtors that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be 
of high credit quality.  Aggregates of such amounts are detailed at Note 6.   

 The company has no significant concentrations of credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or 
group of counterparties. Details with respect to credit risk of accounts receivable and other debtors 
are provided in Note 6. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
 NOTE 16: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.) 

 Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the finance 
committee in accordance with approved board policy. Such policy requires that surplus funds are 
only invested with counterparties with a Standard & Poor’s rating of at least AA–.  The following 
table provides information regarding the credit risk relating to cash and money market securities 
based on Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings: 

  Note 2021 2020 
 Cash on hand   $ $ 
 – AA rated  3,583,424 2,599,137 

  4 3,583,424 2,599,137 

b. Liquidity risk 
 Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the company might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or 

otherwise meeting its obligations in relation to financial liabilities.  The company manages this risk 
through the following mechanisms: 

 – preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and financing 
activities; 

 – maintaining a reputable credit profile; 

 – managing credit risk related to financial assets; 

 – only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and 

 – comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets. 

 The table below reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for non-derivative financial 
liabilities.  The company does not hold any derivative financial liabilities directly. 

 Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of 
realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in 
the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates. 

Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis 

 Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Over 5 
Years 

Total 

 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due 
for payment 

        

Accounts payable and 
other payables (excluding 
leave provisions) 

492,754 685,119 - -  - 492,754 685,119 

Lease liability  132,241 78,455 117,219 45,960 - - 249,460 124,415 

Total expected outflows 624,995 763,574 117,219 45,960 - - 742,214 809,534 

Financial assets – cash 
flows realisable 

        

Cash on hand 3,583,424 2,599,137 - - - - 3,583,424 2,599,137 

Financial assets  5,114,681 2,978,178 - - - - 5,114,681 2,978,178 

Accounts receivable and 
other debtors 

618,732 611,823 - - - - 618,732 611,823 

Total anticipated inflows  9,316,837 6,189,138 - - - - 9,316,837 6,189,138 

Net inflow on financial 
instruments 

8,691,842 5,425,564 (117,219) (45,960) - - 8,574,623 5,379,604 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

NOTE 16: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT) 
c. Market risk 
 (i) Interest rate risk 

  Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at 
the end of the reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future 
cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. The company is also exposed 
to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments.  

  The financial instruments that expose the company to interest rate risk are limited to lease 
liabilities, listed shares, government and fixed interest securities, and cash on hand. 

  The company manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are 
paid within any pre-agreed credit terms.   

 (ii) Other price risk 

  Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or currency risk) of securities held. 

  The company is exposed to other price risk on investments held for trading or for medium to 
longer terms.  Such risk is managed through diversification of investments across industries 
and geographical locations. 
 

 Sensitivity analysis 

 The following table illustrates sensitivities to the company’s exposures to changes in interest rates 
and equity prices. The table indicates the impact of how profit and equity values reported at the end 
of the reporting period would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that 
management considers to be reasonably possible. 

 These sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other 
variables. 

   Surplus Equity 

   $ $ 
Year ended 30 June 2021    

+/– 2% in interest rates (cash and financial assets at amortised cost)  +/- 173,962 +/- 173,962 

Year ended 30 June 2020    

+/– 2% in interest rates (cash and financial assets at amortised cost)  +/- 111,546 +/- 111,546 

 No sensitivity analysis has been performed on foreign exchange risk as the company has no 
material exposures to currency risk. 

 There have been no changes in any of the assumptions used to prepare the above sensitivity 
analysis from the prior year. 

Fair Values 

Fair value estimation 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be 
compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.   

Refer to Note 17 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 

Differences between fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are 
due to the change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial recognition by the 
company.  Most of these instruments, which are carried at amortised cost (ie accounts receivables, loan 
liabilities), are to be held until maturity and therefore the fair value figures calculated bear little relevance to 
the company. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

NOTE 16: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT) 
  2021 2020 

 Note Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

  $ $ $ $ 
Financial assets at amortised cost:      

Cash on hand (i) 4 3,583,424 3,583,424 2,599,137 2,599,137 

Financial assets (i) 5 5,114,681 5,114,681 2,978,178 2,978,178 

Accounts receivable and other debtors (i) 6 618,732 618,732 611,823 611,823 

Total financial assets at amortised cost  9,136,837 9,316,837 6,189,138 6,189,138 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:      

Accounts payable and other payables (i) 11a 492,754 492,754 685,119 685,119 

Lease liabilities   249,460 249,460 124,415 124,415 

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost  742,214 742,214 809,534 809,534 

 
(i) Cash on hand, financial assets, accounts receivable and other debtors, and accounts payable and 

other payables are short-term instruments in nature whose carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value. Accounts payable and other payables exclude amounts provided for annual leave, which is 
outside the scope of AASB 9. 

 
NOTE 17: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
The company measures and recognises the following  assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial 
recognition 

– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;  

– available-for-sale financial assets; and 

– freehold land and buildings. 

The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any 
assets or liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

a. Fair Value Hierarchy 

 

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the 
fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels 
based on the lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised 
into as follows: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 

Measurements based on 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the 
company can access at the 
measurement date. 

Measurements based on inputs 
other than quoted prices included 
in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly. 

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability. 

 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined 
using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value 
are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not 
based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
 NOTE 17: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT) 

 Valuation techniques 

 

The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data 
primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The 
valuation techniques selected by the company are consistent with one or more of the following 
valuation approaches: 

 – Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information 
generated by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 
– Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or 

income and expenses into a single discounted present value. 

 – Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an 
asset at its current service capacity. 

 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a 
valuation technique, the company gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using 
market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are 
considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are 
developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered 
unobservable. 

 
The following tables provide the fair values of the company’s assets and liabilities measured and 
recognised on a recurring basis after initial recognition and their categorisation within the fair value 
hierarchy: 

  30 June 2021 
 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 

 Total financial assets recognised at 
fair value on a recurring basis    

 Non-financial assets     

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000

 Freehold buildings  - 1,666,770 - 1,666,770

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,641,770 - 2,641,770

 
  30 June 2020 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 
 Total financial assets recognised at 

fair value on a recurring basis       
 Non-financial assets      

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000 

 Freehold buildings  - 1,666,770 - 1,666,770 

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,641,770 - 2,641,770 

Page 30 of 36

43

Forrest Personnel Ltd  
ABN 16 407 737 173 

  Page 31 of 35 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
  2020 2019 

 Note Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

  $ $ $ $ 
Financial assets at amortised cost:      

Cash on hand (i) 4 2,599,137 2,599,137 3,545,671 3,545,671 

Financial assets (i) 5 2,978,178 2,978,178 - - 

Accounts receivable and other debtors (i) 6 611,823 611,823 522,810 522,810 

Total financial assets at amortised cost  6,189,138 6,189,138 4,068,481 4,068,481 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:      

Accounts payable and other payables (i) 11a 1,042,201 1,042,264 1,064,529 1,064,529 

Lease liabilities   124,415 124,415 - - 

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost  1,166,616 1,166,616 1,064,529 1,064,529 

 
(i) Cash on hand, financial assets, accounts receivable and other debtors, and accounts payable and 

other payables are short-term instruments in nature whose carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value. Accounts payable and other payables exclude amounts provided for annual leave, which is 
outside the scope of AASB 9. 

 
NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
The company measures and recognises the following  assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial 
recognition 

– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;  

– available-for-sale financial assets; and 

– freehold land and buildings. 

The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any 
assets or liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

a. Fair Value Hierarchy 

 

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the 
fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels 
based on the lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised 
into as follows: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 

Measurements based on 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the 
company can access at the 
measurement date. 

Measurements based on inputs 
other than quoted prices included 
in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly. 

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability. 

 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined 
using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value 
are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not 
based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
 NOTE 17: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONT) 

 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for assets measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis during the reporting period (2020: no transfers). 
 

b. Valuation Techniques and Inputs Used to Measure Level 2 Fair Values 

 Description Fair Value at 30 
June 2021 Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Used 

  $   

 Non-financial assets    

 Freehold land(i) 975,000 Market approach using recent 
observable market data for 

similar properties;  

Price per square 
metre; market 
borrowing rate 

 Freehold buildings(i) 1,666,770 Market approach using recent 
observable market data for 
similar properties; income 

approach using discounted cash 
flow methodology 

Price per square 
metre; market 
borrowing rate 

  2,641,770   

 (i) The fair value of freehold land and buildings is determined at least every three years 
based on valuations by an independent valuer. At the end of each intervening period, the 
directors review the independent valuation and, when appropriate, update the fair value 
measurement to reflect current market conditions using a range of valuation techniques, 
including recent observable market data and discounted cash flow methodologies.  

 There were no changes during the period in the valuation techniques used by the company to 
determine Level 2 fair values.  

 
NOTE 18: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
Management controls the capital of the company to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated to fund 
its mentoring programs and that returns from investments are maximised within tolerable risk parameters.  
The finance committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is in line with this objective. 

The finance committee operates under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Risk management 
policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and 
future cash flow requirements. 

The company’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. 

Management effectively manages the company’s capital by assessing the company’s financial risks and 
responding to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses may include the consideration of 
debt levels. 

There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the 
company since the previous year.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

 
NOTE 19: COMPANY DETAILS 
The registered office of the company is: 

 Forrest Personnel Ltd  

 14 Strickland Street  

 BUNBURY  WA  6230 

The principal place of business is: 

 14 Strickland Street  

 BUNBURY  WA  6230 

  

 
NOTE 21: MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE 
The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If 
the company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
$1 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the company. At 30 June 2021, the number of 
members was 98 (2020: 89). 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  
TO THE BOARD OF FORREST PERSONNEL LTD 

 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2021 there have been no 
contraventions of:  
 

i) The auditor independence requirements as set out in section 60.40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 
 

ii) Any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
AMD Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
MARIA CAVALLO FCA  
Director 
 
Bunbury, WA 
 
Dated this  5th day of October 2021 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF FORREST PERSONNEL LTD  

 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Forrest Personnel Ltd which comprises the statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2021, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in 
equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  
  
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Forrest Personnel Ltd is in accordance with Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commissions Act 2012, including: 
 

i) giving a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the financial position of Forrest Personnel Ltd as 
at 30 June 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 
ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-

for-profits Commission Regulations 2013. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our 
report.  We are independent of Forrest Personnel Ltd in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.   
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.   
 
Emphasis of Matter 
We draw attention to Note 1(q) to the financial statements which outlines the corporation’s economic 
dependency, whereby to continue as a going concern the corporation is dependent upon continued receipt of 
funding from the Department of Social Services. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon  
The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information included 
in Forrest Personnel Ltd’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the financial report 
and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.   
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Director’s for the Financial Report  
The directors of the corporation are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing Forrest Personnel Ltd’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intend to liquidate Forrest Personnel Ltd or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.    
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our my opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.   

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the registered entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, 
future events or conditions may cause the registered entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
  
AMD Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
MARIA CAVALLO  
Director                                Dated this 15 day of October 2021
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Iain Massey 
Chairman, 2015 – Present 

Iain Massey joined the board of Forrest Personnel in 2015. He is 
an experienced and qualified company director, board advisor and 
management consultant. He is a graduate member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors (GAICD), and an Associate Fellow of 
the Australian Institute of Management (AFAIM). He holds graduate 
qualifications in business management (Grad Dip Mgmt, UWA) and 
computer science (Grad Dip Comp, Curtin). He is a member of the 
AICD South West Regional Committee. He is a resident of the South 
West (Balingup) and assists clients in the region, in Perth, and 
elsewhere in WA. He brings to the Forrest Personnel board special 
expertise in governance, strategy, board processes, and technology 
enablers.

Karl Depiazzi  
Deputy Chairman, 2016 – Present 

Karl Depiazzi was appointed to the Board of Forrest Personnel in 
January 2016.  Karl holds a Double Major in Accounting and Public 
Practice from Edith Cowan University Western Australia and is a 
Certified Practicing Accountant in Australia.  Karl has more than 17 
years of executive management experience, both in the not for profit 
and large corporate environments. He is an experienced company 
director and consultant to a range of businesses within the oil and 
gas, technology, resources, infrastructural and engineering industries 
using his extensive experience in finance, risk, human resources 
and strategic analysis.  He has deep business, finance, risk and 
governance experience gained in Australia and overseas, working with 
top tier service and industrial clients.

David Timmel 
Director, 2016 – Present 

David Timmel is a senior executive with more than 30 years’ 
experience in the Financial Services, Agribusiness, Recruitment 
and Property Management sectors. David is highly experienced in 
successfully running multi – site operating business for ASX and 
unlisted public companies throughout Australia. This experience has 
been gained whilst working at BankWest, Landmark, SKILLED Group 
Ltd and the first CEO of the privatized Perth Markets Limited. David 
is a graduate of the Advanced Management Program at Harvard 
University and holds post and undergraduate degrees from Curtin 
University.

Our Board Members
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Lyn Harding 
Director, 2017 – Present 

Lyn Harding joined Forrest Personnel in March 2017. Her skillset is a 
good fit for Forrest Personnel with experience in corporations such as 
ASX-listed Ramsay Health Care and, another iconic WA not-for-profit, 
HBF. Now she runs her own coaching and consulting business in the 
SME space. Lyn lives in Perth and frequently travels to the South West, 
which she aims to make her home one day. A strong fiscal focus and 
capacity for developing strategic visions and managing risk might be 
what Lyn is known for, yet her real passion is culture and people – for 
collective uplift in performance.

Dr Gae Synnott 
Director, 2021 – Present 

Dr Gae Synnott joined the Board of Forrest Personnel in March 2021. 
Gae’s background is in the social sciences and she has more than 30 
years of consulting experience in strategy and communications, plus 
experience in corporate, government and academic roles. Gae holds 
a Communications degree, an MBA, a Graduate Certificate in Tertiary 
Teaching, and a PhD in Psychology exploring issues of culture, values 
and identity. She is a Graduate from the AICD Company Directors 
Course and is on the Board of Busselton Water, and Starick Services, a 
not-for-profit organisation in the family and domestic violence sector.

Nadine Carter  
Director, 2021 – Present  

Nadine Carter was appointed to the Board of Forrest Personnel in 
February 2021. Nadine is a Professional Non-Executive Director and 
Independent Chairman across both the public and not-for-profit 
sectors following an extensive career in strategic human resource 
management. Nadine holds a Bachelor of Business in Human 
Resource Management and Industrial Relations and a Graduate 
Diploma in Management. She is a Fellow and Graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD) and is Chair of the 
AICD South West Regional Committee.

Through her 20 years of corporate experience and independent 
consultancy, Nadine brings a proven track record in corporate 
governance, strategy development, stakeholder engagement, risk 
management, strategic human resource management, organisational 
development, cultural change, and executive leadership development.
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Dr George Giuliani  
Chief Executive Officer, 2021 - Present 

George joined Forrest Personnel in July 2021 and has qualifications 
in Youth Work/Theology, Family Therapy (clinical), Social Work, 
Business Management and a Doctorate of Social Work in 2015. Along 
the journey, George has worked in the full gamut of employment 
programs spanning the last 40 years and often in the context of very 
disadvantaged groups, including Juvenile Justice, Social Enterprises 
and SkillShare within Homeless crisis facilities and community 
development within migrant populations. Following five years as 
Deputy CEO at Jobs Australia and nine Years as CEO at Disability 
Employment and Community Development agency E-Focus, George 
is keen to share his experience and learning gathered over a lifetime 
of service with community organisations seeking to make a structural 
difference to Australian conditions for those who need it most.

Anna Bagshaw 
Chief Executive Officer, 2017 – 2021

Anna has a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Western 
Australia and has managed businesses in Australia and Argentina. 
Anna has been working in Disability Employment Services since 2011. 
Anna has many years’ experience in leadership, management and 
governance across a range of corporate and non-government entities. 
Her roles have included leadership, planning, operations, human 
resources, change management, training, logistics and administration. 
Anna left Forrest Personnel in July 2021.

Kylie Drage 
General Manager Services

Kylie has a broad base of management skills that has allowed her 
the flexibility to work across a variety of sectors and industries. Whilst 
being responsible for day-to-day operations, she also been able 
to guide projects and major change initiatives to completion. She 
has backed this experience with additional post-graduate studies 
completing an MBA. She strives to bring drive, enthusiasm and real 
value to the organisations she works with.  Kylie left Forrest Personnel 
in August 2021.
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Tracey Birch  
General Manager People and Culture

Tracey has a Bachelor of Commerce in Human Resource Management 
and Management, a Graduate Certificate in both HR Management 
and Employment Law in addition to her certification in Training and 
Assessment and Mental Health First Aid. Spanning over 20 years, 
Tracey has worked in Human Resources in local government, mining, 
security, transport and the disability sector. Her areas of expertise 
include employee relations, Industrial Relations, HR compliance, 
performance management, change management, training design and 
facilitation, compensation analytics and personal and professional 
development. Tracey loves working with people to help them reach 
their full potential and gets pleasure out of seeing people succeed at 
every stage of their career journey.

Lee-Ann Hassim  
General Manager Corporate Services 

Lee-Ann has a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting Science and is 
a CAANZ Provisional member with 20 years of experience in leading 
national and international industries such as education, mining 
power generation, logistics and beverage co-packing. Working as 
a key finance business advisor and decision support at strategic 
and operational levels, Lee-Ann focusses on results and company 
strategic targets through efficiency and productivity improvement 
while simultaneously responding to ever changing market conditions. 
Lee-Ann is passionate about supporting organisational sustainability 
through driving growth and development. 

Ceri Price   
General Manager Business Development 

Ceri has more than ten years’ experience in marketing and 
commercial management roles in non-profit (health), government 
and corporate organisations. He brings a passion for digital 
communications and growing corporate and community partnerships, 
skills in transformational project/change management and an 
understanding of how to use branding to grow business performance.  
Ceri is excited to help grow Forrest Personnel’s impact in improving 
lives and supporting more employers find diverse, skilled, local 
employees. 

Our Executive Team
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We’d like to thank all our funders and partners across government, business and the 
community over the past year.  

A special thanks to each and every person who has given every day Western Australians an 
opportunity to work in a local business, or has helped support them to get ready for  
and remain in work. You have changed lives.

Department of Education, Skills and Employment 
(DESE)

Department of Social Services (DSS)

Disability Employment Services (DES)

National Employment Services Association (NESA)

Services Australia

Grange Insurance

National Disability Service

IPS Consulting

Jobs and Skills Centre

National Disability Coordination Officer Program 
(NDCO)

National Disability Insurance Agency

Lotterywest

Department of Communities

Chorus

Chambers of Commerce and Industry

Woolworths

South32

Iluka

St Vincent De Paul

Hon. Don Punch MLA

City of Albany

City of Bunbury 

City of Busselton

City of Cockburn

City of Greater Geraldton

City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder

City of Kwinana

City of Rockingham

Shire of Augusta-Margaret River

Shire of Collie

Shire of Bridgetown-Greenbushes

Shire of Esperance

Shire of Gingin

Shire of Manjimup

Shire of Narrogin

Shire of Northam

Town of Cambridge

South Regional TAFE

Central Regional TAFE

North Metropolitan TAFE

South Metropolitan TAFE

Acknowledgements

Brett Coate
General Manager Services 

Brett has completed a Bachelor of Business Degree, 
specialising in Finance, Banking and Economics. Spanning a 
professional career of 25 years, Brett has extensive experience 
working in both the private and public sector in Executive level 
leadership positions. He is passionate about excellence in 
customer service delivery and considers positive organisational 
culture to be a critical element in its success.  Brett left Forrest 
Personnel in April 2021.
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Bruno Dias
General Manager Corporate Services

Bruno holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree and a Master of 
Business Administration (MBA), both from Curtin University, and 
is a Certified Practising Accountant (CPA). Bruno has a broad 
commercial background working across mining and utilities 
for over 20 years. During this time he has worked in Ukraine, 
Romania, Papua New Guinea and Brazil. Bruno left Forrest 
Personnel in February 2021.

Melissa Reid  
General Manager Corporate Services 

Melissa holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree – double major 
in Accounting and Finance and is a chartered accountant. 
Melissa has a background in financial accounting and business 
services within the construction and engineering industry. 
Melissa was the Company Accountant before her promotion to 
General Manager Corporate Services, which she fulfilled until 
September 2020.
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